1999

# John Collins and June Collins v. Sandy City Board of Adjustment and Sandy City Corporation: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTION**

This appeal is an appeal from the district court review of an adjudicative proceeding of a political subdivision of the state and the Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(b)(1).

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Is the 1996 District Court case *res judicata* with respect to the issues presented in the 1998 District Court case brought by the Petitioners against the Respondent?

**Standard of Review:** This issue presents a question of law, and is therefore reviewable for correction of error. *Winegar v. Froerer Corp.*, 813 P. 2d 104, 107-08 (Utah 1991).

This issue was preserved for appeal in the memoranda and argument presented at the hearing of the cross motions for summary judgment (R. 17-139; 142-246; 247-257; 258-281 ).

2. Are the Petitioners entitled to non-conforming use status with respect to their real properties utilized as short-term rentals prior to the issuance of a cease and desist order by the Respondent Sandy City Corporation in 1996?

**Standard of Review:** This is a challenge to a summary judgment presenting for review conclusions of law only and the appellate court reviews those conclusions for correctness, without according deference to the trial court's legal conclusions.

*Bonham v. Morgan*, 788 P. 2d 497 (Utah 1989).

This issue was preserved for appeal in the memoranda and argument presented at the hearing of the cross motions for summary judgment. (R. 17-139; 142-246; 247-257; 258-281 ).

### **DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS OF LAW**

The following provisions of law may be determinative of the issues herein, and are set out in their entirety in the addendum:

Chapter 15-24 Sandy City Development Code

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an action by John Collins and June Collins against the Sandy City Board of Adjustment and Sandy City Corporation for review of a decision by the Sandy City Board of Adjustment denying non-conforming use status for certain real properties located in Sandy City owned by John and June Collins that had been utilized as short-term rentals prior to the enactment by Sandy City of an ordinance prohibiting such short-term rentals.

On October 27, 1998 the Petitioners John and June Collins filed an application for non-conforming use status with the Sandy City Board of Adjustment. This application was denied on November 12, 1998. The Petitioners filed a Petition for Review on December 11, 1998. (R. 1-6) Cross motions for summary judgment were subsequently filed (R. 15-16; 140-141) and the Motions were argued on August 16, 1999. (R. 431 )



The District Court granted the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and denied the Petitioners' Motion. (R. 446-448; Add. 1-3 ) Petitioners filed this appeal on December 16, 1999. (R. 449-450 ).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Petitioners are the owners of certain real properties located within the boundaries of Sandy City. For a lengthy period of time prior to March, 1996, the Petitioners utilized the properties as short-term rental properties, sometimes referred to as "ski rentals". In March, 1996 the respondent Sandy City Corporation issued a cease and desist order requiring the petitioners to cease using the properties for that purpose. (R. 28 ) Sandy City did not at that time pass an ordinance prohibiting short-term rentals but relied instead on the existing ordinance, arguing that such use was already prohibited.

The Petitioners filed an appeal to the respondent Sandy City Board of Adjustment in 1996, which upheld Sandy City's interpretation of the Sandy zoning ordinances to preclude such use by the petitioners. Petitioners appealed that decision to the Third District Court and the District Court upheld the decision of the Sandy City Board of Adjustment. [Third District Court Case No. 960905929CV] (R. 210 )

On March 26, 1998 the Utah Court of Appeals rendered a decision in a case involving precisely the same issues as those presented by the Petitioners herein in the above-referenced 1996 case which was pending at the same time as the petitioners' case, in *Brown, et. al. vs. Sandy City Board of Adjustment; and Sandy, a political subdivision of Utah*, 957 P. 2d 207 (Utah App. 1998). That case, decided March 26, 1998, held that

Sandy City's interpretation of the Sandy City Development Code to prohibit leases of less than thirty days in residential zones was not a correct interpretation, i.e., Sandy City had no valid ordinance prohibiting short-term leases in Sandy City. The respondent Sandy City then imposed a temporary moratorium on short-term rentals effective March 27, 1998 and subsequently enacted ordinances prohibiting short-term leases. (R. 36-45)

On or about October 27, 1998, the petitioners filed an application for determination of non-conforming status on their properties with the Sandy City Board of Adjustment. (R. 50) That application was heard by the Board on November 12, 1998. The Sandy City Board of Adjustment denied the petitioners' application for determination of non-conforming use status on the petitioners' properties, apparently relying on the 1996 District Court decision which denied the Motion for Summary Judgment filed by John and June Collins and granted the Motion for Summary Judgment filed by Sandy City Corporation. (R. 446-448) Petitioners filed a Petition for Review of that decision in Case No. 980912601 in the Third District Court. On cross motions for summary judgment the District Court ruled that because the Petitioners/Appellants had not appealed the prior order in Third District Court Case No. 960905929CV, that case was *res judicata* in the present case (Case No. 980912601) and precluded the Petitioners/Appellants from obtaining non-conforming use status on the subject properties. The District Court further ruled that the Petitioners had not demonstrated that they were in fact using the

subject properties as short-term rentals on the date that Sandy City enacted its ordinance prohibiting such use. (R 446-448; Add. 1-3 ).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

1. The decision of the District Court in the 1996 case does not constitute a bar under principles of *res judicata* with respect to the Petitioners' application for non-conforming use status because the issues involved in the 1996 case and the 1998 case are not identical, and there was an intervening change in the law that occurred when the Court of Appeals decided *Brown, et. al. vs. Sandy City Board of Adjustment; and Sandy, a political subdivision of Utah*, 957 P. 2d 207 (Utah App. 1998). This case became the controlling law of the case and effectively established that Sandy City Corporation had no valid ordinance prohibiting short-term rental properties when it issued a cease and desist order requiring the Petitioners to terminate using their real properties located in Sandy City for such purpose.

2. The Petitioners are entitled to non-conforming use status for the properties owned by them in Sandy City and used as short-term rentals prior to the date of the cease and desist order issued by Sandy City Corporation, regardless of the fact that they were not using those properties as short-term rentals on the date Sandy City enacted a moratorium or ordinance prohibiting such use. Mr. and Mrs. Collins complied with the cease and desist order in good faith and should not be penalized for not violating that order.

## **ARGUMENT**

A summary judgment may be affirmed only when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the prevailing party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). In reviewing the judgment, this Court must “accept the facts and inferences in the light most favorable to the losing party” and “may reconsider the trial court’s legal conclusions.” *Winegar v. Froerer Corp.*, 813 P.2d 104, 107 (Utah 1991).

### **POINT I: THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT IN THE 1996 CASE IS NOT *RES JUDICATA* WITH RESPECT TO THE ISSUES RAISED IN THE PETITIONERS’ 1998 DISTRICT COURT CASE.**

#### **A. The Issues in the 1996 Case and the 1998 Case Are Not Identical.**

The doctrine of *res judicata* embraces both the law of claim preclusion and the doctrine of collateral estoppel or “issue preclusion.” *In re Rights to Use of All Water*, 982 P. 2d 65 (Utah 1999); *Madsen vs. Borthick*, 769 P. 2d 245, 247 (Utah 1988). A party invoking the doctrine of collateral estoppel or issue preclusion must demonstrate that the issue involved is identical to the issue decided in a previous action, that the issue was decided in final judgment on the merits, that the issue was competently, fully, and fairly litigated in the first action, and that the party against whom the doctrine is invoked was either a party to the first action or in privity with a party to the first action. *Hill v. Seattle First Nat. Bank*, 827 P. 2d 241 (Utah 1992). If any one of these requirements is not satisfied, there can be no issue preclusion. *Baxter v. Department of Transp.*, 705 P.2d 1167,1168 (Utah 1985); *Wilde v. Mid-Century Ins. Co.*, 635 P. 2d 417,419 (Utah 1981).

In the instant case, while the latter three requirements are met, the issue is not precisely the same as the issue in the 1996 case. In the 1996 case, the issue was whether or not the Sandy City ordinances, as then constituted, prohibited leases of dwellings within the boundaries of Sandy City for terms of less than thirty days. In the 1998 case, the issue presented was whether the Petitioners were entitled to recognition of non-conforming use status of their properties, based upon the fact that Petitioners were in fact utilizing their properties as “ski rentals” prior to the enactment of the Sandy City ordinance in March, 1998. These are not identical issues and principles of issue preclusion do not apply.

**B. The Doctrine of Collateral Estoppel Does Not Apply in This Case.**

Even if the Court were to apply the principles of collateral estoppel or issue preclusion to this case, examination of the issue does not end with the analysis set forth in *Hill v. Seattle First Nat. Bank*, *supra*. In the case of *Norman v. Murray First Thrift & Loan Company*, 596 P. 2d 1028 (Utah 1979), the Utah Supreme Court stated:

“To determine whether it is appropriate to apply collateral estoppel necessitates three further inquiries: First, whether the issues presented in the current litigation are in substance the same as resolved in the prior litigation; second, *whether the controlling facts or legal principles have changed significantly since the prior judgment* [emphasis added]; third, whether other special circumstances warrant an exception to the normal rules of preclusion.” At 1032.

The analysis enunciated in *Norman v. Murray First Thrift & Loan Company*, *supra*, follows the general rule in the United States. In *State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co. v. Duel*, 324 U.S. 154 (1945), the U.S. Supreme Court stated, “...[I]t is ...the general rule that res judicata is no defense where between the time of the first judgment and the

second there has been an intervening decision or a change in the law creating an altered situation. 2 *Freeman on Judgments* (5<sup>th</sup> ed. 1925).” At 162. Where the facts or the law have substantially changed between the first judgment and the second judgment, collateral estoppel is inapplicable. *Statler v. Catalano*, 293 Ill. App. 3d 483, 691 N.E.2d 384 (Ill. App. 1997); *Community Hospital vs. Sullivan*, 986 F. 2d 357, 360 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993); *Board of Education vs. Village of Northbrook*, 692 N.E. 2d 1278 (Ill. App. 1 Dist. 1998); *Farrow vs. Brown*, 873 S.W. 2d 918 (Mo. App. 1994).

The Respondent maintains that because the Third District Court in the 1996 case granted summary judgment for Sandy City against John and June Collins, essentially ruling that there was no issue as to any material fact and that Sandy City’s zoning ordinances, as then written, prohibited the leasing of property for terms less than thirty days, as argued and advanced by Sandy City, that this precludes the Petitioners from making application for non-conforming use status, notwithstanding the fact that the Utah Court of Appeals ruled in *Brown, et. al. vs. Sandy City Board of Adjustment; and Sandy, a political subdivision of Utah*, 957 P. 2d 207 (Utah App. 1998) that Sandy City’s interpretation of the Sandy City Development Code to prohibit leases of less than thirty days in residential zones was erroneous and not a correct interpretation of that Code. What *Brown* effectively held was that Sandy City had no ordinance in effect that prohibited short-term leases, and that, therefore, such leases were a valid use.

Taking the Respondent’s position to its logical conclusion, this would mean that the ordinances in question in the *Brown* case and in Petitioners’ 1996 case could

not be relied upon by Sandy City to preclude any other property owner in Sandy City from leasing their property for less than thirty days ( prior to the enactment of a legal ordinance prohibiting such leases), except the Petitioners in this case, because Mr. and Mrs. Collins chose to await the outcome of the *Brown* case, supra, rather than to appeal. This is an illogical and incongruous result, and is not supported by the case law. In *Heslop v. Bank of Utah*, 839 P.2d 828 (Utah 1992), the Court stated:

“In the vast majority of cases, the stated law of a decision is effective both prospectively and retrospectively, even a decision which overrules prior law.” At 835.

In the instant case, a change in the intervening case law altered the situation between the time of the first suit by petitioners in 1996 and the present case, undertaken in 1998. *Brown*, supra, held that Sandy City could not prohibit short term rentals pursuant to general language in its then existing development code regarding the use of single family dwellings in residential zones in the city of Sandy. This altered the law with respect to John and June Collins as well as any other property owner living within the limits of Sandy City. In response to the decision in *Brown*, supra, Sandy City passed a moratorium on short-term leases and ultimately passed an ordinance prohibiting such leases within Sandy City. However, John and June Collins were legally entitled to use their properties as short-term rentals prior to the passing of that ordinance and that was the basis for their application for non-conforming use status in November, 1998.

**POINT II: THE PETITIONERS ARE ENTITLED TO A GRANT OF NON-CONFORMING USE STATUS FOR THEIR PROPERTIES USED AS SHORT-TERM RENTALS PRIOR TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE CEASE AND DESIST ORDER ISSUED BY RESPONDENT IN MARCH OF 1996.**

**A. The Petitioners Were Using Their Properties for a Valid Use at the Time They Were Ordered to Discontinue Such Use by Sandy City.**

A nonconforming land use is commonly defined as a lawful use maintained after the effective date of a zoning ordinance prohibiting such use in the applicable district. See 1 R. Anderson, *American Law of Zoning 3d*, §6.01, at 446-447 n. 2 (1986). The doctrine of vested nonconforming uses is based on the reluctance of courts to apply zoning ordinances retroactively, thus destroying vested property rights. *Rotter v. Coconino County*, 818 P. 2d 704 (Ariz. 1991). Any ordinance that eliminates nonconforming uses solely by virtue of its enactment is generally held unconstitutional as a taking of property without due process of law. *O'Connor v. City of Moscow*, 202 P. 2d 401, 403-04 (Idaho 1949); *Bergford v. Clackamas County*, 515 P. 2d 1345, 1347 (Or. App. 1973); *Allen v. City of Corpus Christi*, 247 S.W. 2d 130 (Tex. Civ. App. 1952 ). Because zoning ordinances “are in derogation of a property owner’s common law right to unrestricted use of his or her property, provisions therein restricting property uses should be strictly construed, and provisions permitting property uses should be liberally construed in favor of the property owner.” *Brown v. Sandy City Board of Adjustment*, 957 P. 2d 207, 210 (Utah App. 1998) (*quoting Patterson v. Utah County Board of Adjustment*, 893 P. 2d 602, 606 (Utah App. 1995)). Further, the



right of a property owner to the continued existence of uses and structures which lawfully existed prior to the effective date of a zoning restriction is grounded in constitutional law. 8A McQuillin Municipal Corporations Sec. 25.180-25-180.20, at 8-9 (3d ed. 1994) The Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I Section 7 of the Constitution of Utah provide that no person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law. Therefore, due process principles protect a property owner from having his or her vested property rights interfered with, and preexisting lawful uses of property are generally considered to be vested rights that zoning ordinances may not abrogate. 8A McQuillan Municipal Corporations Sec 15.180.20, at 10.

As a general rule, a landowner acquires no advantage from a nonconforming use previously enjoyed where it appears that such use was surreptitiously and fraudulently effected, or was unlawful at the time the zoning regulation took effect. *Prospect Gardens Convalescent Home, Inc. v. City of Norwalk*, 347 A. 2d 637 (Conn. 1975 ); *Dalton v. Van Dien*, 339 N.Y.S. 2d 378 (N.Y. 1972 ). However, violations of law committed by patrons of the landowner are not chargeable to him or to his use of the land. *Ratcliffe v. Morrison*, 123 N.Y.S. 2d 831 (1952, Sup.).

Technical irregularities or violations of non-land use related ordinances are irrelevant to the question of whether a property should be accorded nonconforming use status. *Hugoe vs. Woods Cross City*, 379 Utah Adv. Rep. 15 (Utah App. 1999); *Waikiki Marketplace Investment Company vs. Zoning Board of Appeals of the City and County of Honolulu*, 949 P. 2d 183 (Hawaii App. 1997); *Mellow v. Board of Adjustment*, 565 A. 2d

947 (Del. Super. Ct. 1988), *aff'd* 567 A. 2d 422 (Del. Supr. Ct. 1989); *City of Middlesboro Planning Com'n vs. Howard*, 551 S.W. 2d 556 (Ky. 1977). “Lawful use refers to compliance with previous zoning laws, not to the building codes or other legal requirements.” *Waikiki Marketplace Investment Company, supra*, at p. 196.

In March, 1996 the Petitioners owned and were using their properties located at 9255 South Maison Drive, 1875 East Alla Panna Way, 472 East 9400 South and 1456 East Longdale Drive, in Sandy City, as short-term rentals (rentals for periods of time less than thirty days). The Petitioners discontinued using these properties for that purpose only because they were served with a Cease and Desist Order on March 26, 1996. (R. 28)

Even though the Cease and Desist Order only purported to prohibit the use of three of the above-described properties (9255 South Maison Drive was not included in the Order), the Sandy City Board of Adjustment considered all of the properties when the issue was brought before it and its ruling was clearly intended to apply to all of the properties. (R. 269)

The issue in the 1996 Board of Adjustment hearing was the *admitted* use by the Petitioners of the above-described properties as short-term rentals. Mr. and Mrs. Collins did not assert that they were not in fact using the properties for that purpose. Sandy City had made it very clear to Mr. and Mrs. Collins that such use would not be permitted in Sandy City. (R. 269) Now, however, Sandy City seeks to assert that Mr. and Mrs. Collins are precluded from asserting a valid non-conforming use for their properties because they were not actually using the properties as short-term rentals in

1998 when, following the decision of the Utah Court of Appeals in *Brown*, supra, Sandy City enacted a moratorium prohibiting short-term rental properties in R-1 zones in Sandy City.

**B. The Petitioners Are Not Required to Show That They Were Actually Using Their Properties as Short-Term Rentals on the Date That Sandy City Enacted an Ordinance Prohibiting Such Use.**

Section 15-24-2 of the Sandy City Development Code (Add. 4 -5) provides in pertinent part that:

“Except as hereinafter specified, any use, building, or structure, lawfully existing at the time of the enactment or subsequent amendment of this Code, may be continued, even though such use, building, or structure does not conform with the provisions of this Code for the district in which it is located.” . . .

The foregoing section of the Sandy City Development Code is in conformity with the Utah Code sec. 10-9-408 (1996) which declares that “a nonconforming use or structure may be continued.”

It is undisputed that the Petitioners, John Collins and June Collins, would have continued to use their properties as short-term rental units had the cease and desist order not been served upon them on March 26, 1996. As a general rule, cessation of a prior non-conforming use due to circumstances beyond the control of the property owner does not operate as discontinuance or abandonment of such nonconforming use. See e.g., *Ocean Beach vs. Stein*, 488 N.Y.S. 2d 239 (N.Y. App. Div. 1985); *Andrew vs. King County*, 586 P. 2d 509 (Wash. App. 1978); *King County vs. High*, 219 P. 2d 118 (Wash. 1950). These cases hold that unauthorized conduct by a municipality or regulations temporarily preventing the particular use cannot be

construed as an abandonment of the use by the owner. Whether a party discontinues or abandons a particular use depends upon the intention of the party affected. *King County vs. High*, at 119.

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