1999

John Collins and June Collins v. Sandy City Board of Adjustment and Sandy City Corporation: Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Owners did not appeal the adverse decisions with respect to all three of their properties. They didn't appeal the decision of the Sandy Board of Adjustment in 1996 with respect to the Maison Drive property. Later they did not appeal the 1996 district court

¹⁸ The dark bar indicates the point at which the Petitioners stopped appealing each property.

¹⁹ This property was not the subject of the 1998 Board of Adjustment proceedings, was not appealed to the District Court, and is not involved in this case, as shown by the graying of the column. It is shown here because it was involved in the 1996 Board of Adjustment and district court proceedings.

decision with respect to their other two homes located at 1875 East Alla Panna Way and 472 East 9400South. Collateral estoppel now precludes them from relitigating these cases.

The Property Owners maintain that the 1998 decision of the Utah Court of Appeals in *Brown v. Sandy City Board of Adjustment*,²⁰ another home ski rental case, precludes application of collateral estoppel to them, because it is an intervening change in law. In fact, there was no law established on this interpretation of Sandy's ordinances; *Brown* was a case of first impression. It was not, therefore a change in law, as the Owners claim. The Collinses should have appealed the former district court case if they believed it was incorrect. The rule is well established that where a party has foregone an available appeal, an intervening court decision will not allow the resurrection of the same issue in a subsequent suit. The Property Owners have not cited any authority to the contrary. Any other rule would allow the endless relitigation of cases by dissatisfied parties.

The applicant for a nonconforming use bears the burden of showing he is entitled to it , and that he was using the properties as short-term rentals on the date the zoning ordinance prohibiting such use became effective. There is no evidence of a substantial short-term rental use at any time on any of these parcels at any time, much less in 1998 when the new ordinance became effective. The Property Owners relied solely on the intervening decision in *Brown* argue for the nonconforming use status for their properties, and the Notice and Order from the City's zoning enforcement officer, asserting that these alone are sufficient to establish their use.

²⁰ 957 P.2d 207

The Notice and Order is too slender a thread on which to carry a nonconforming use: it doesn't refer to the Maison Drive property at all. It did refer to the other two properties, but says nothing about the historical inception date, nature, or scope of any such uses sufficient to show any pattern or scope of use prior to the time they stopped using the properties. The rule in most jurisdictions in the United States is that substantial operations are needed to establish a nonconforming use; not only must there have been some actual nonconforming operations, but these must have been substantial in quantity. The Owners expected the Board, the trial court, and now this court to accept their illogical assumption that because a zoning officer believed in 1996 that they were renting some of their homes, that this is sufficient to demonstrate that they would have such a use in 1998 when the zoning ordinances were changed to disallow such use. There was no evidence to support this position.

ARGUMENT

I. THE OWNERS' CLAIMS ARE PRECLUDED BY COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL

Utah recognizes two branches of res judicata, namely claim preclusion and issue preclusion, more properly called collateral estoppel,²¹ each of which promotes the important judicial policy of preventing parties from relitigating a claim or issue.²² In order for the relitigation of an issue to be barred in another action, four requirements must be met:

First, the issue in both cases must be identical. Second, the judgment must be final with respect to that issue. Third, the issue must have been fully, fairly, and

²¹ *Madsen v. Borthick*, 769 P.2d 245 (Utah 1988)

²² *Office of Recovery Serv. v. V.G.P.*, 845 P.2d 944 (Ct. App. 1992)

competently litigated in the first action. Fourth, the party who is precluded from litigating the issue must be either a party to the first action or a privy of a party.²³

A. The Essential Issue in the 1996 Collins District Court Case And The 1998 District Court Case Was the Same.

The central issue in Owners' first (1996) appeal to the Board of Adjustment²⁴, and in the appeal which followed to the district court²⁵ was whether the Property Owners' short-term rentals were lawful.²⁶ The legality of the Owners' short-term rentals was also essential to their subsequent application for legal nonconforming use status in 1998.

The Owners maintain that issues in the 1996 and 1998 cases are different because the issue in the latter case was whether the Owners were entitled to a nonconforming use. They avoid the fact that to qualify for a nonconforming use, the applicant must show that the use was legally established and continued before the enactment or effective date of the restrictive legislation.²⁷ When the Owners failed to appeal the Board of Adjustment and the

²³ *Madsen, id.*, at 247

²⁴ The Application to Bd. of Adj. clearly states that the issue is the alleged error in interpreting the City's ordinances. June 27, 1996 letter from Franklin L. Slauch to Sandy City Bd. of Adj. at 1, R. at 162. *See also* Amended Complaint ¶6, R. at 175.

²⁵ The central issue in the 1996 district court case was the interpretation of the City's ordinances to prohibit short-term rentals. Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 7, 10, R. at 175, 176. Plaintiffs also raised the claim in the appeal to district court that the City's ordinances were unconstitutionally vague, Amended Complaint, ¶8, R. at 175. But, under the "same evidence" test, causes of action asserting different theories of recovery may be considered the same for res judicata purposes if the same operative facts give rise to the assertions. *See American Estate Management Corp. v. International Investment and Development Corp.*, 986 P.2d 765 (Ut. App. 1999) (A claim is an operative set of facts which may give rise to different legal theories.) The assertion of different theories does not prevent the application of res judicata. *Zabel v. Cohn*, 283 Ill. app. 3d, 1043, 1049, 670 N.E.2d 877, 881 (1996)

²⁶ *See* Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 4-7 R. at 175.

²⁷ *See* Young, 1 Anderson's American Law of Zoning (4th ed.) §6.11; *See also* §15-24-2, Rev. Ord. of Sandy City which requires that a use must be lawfully existing at the time

district court decisions, their uses were finally adjudged illegal. The Collinses could not validly come before the Board of Adjustment in 1998 and claim, as they did, that they had a legal nonconforming use when the contrary had already been finally adjudicated with respect to those homes. "The applicability of collateral estoppel does not depend upon whether the claims for relief are the same in both cases: what is critical is whether the issue that was actually litigated in the first suit was essential to resolution of that suit and is the same factual issue as that raised in the second suit."²⁸

B. Finality.

1. 9255 Maison Drive Property. The Board of Adjustment decision in the 1996 case with respect to the 9255 Maison Drive home became final when the Owners did not appeal to the decision on the legality of the short-term rentals as to that property to the Third District Court.²⁹ Collateral estoppel applies not only to court decisions, but also to those of administrative bodies.³⁰

2. 1975 E. Alla Panna Way and 472 East 9400 South Homes. The summary judgment issued in the 1996 Third District Court case was final with respect to the 1975 E. Alla Panna Way and 472 East 9400 South homes inasmuch as it ended the controversy

of prohibitive ordinance.

²⁸ *Robertson v. Campbell*, 674 P.2d 1226, 1230 (Utah 1983) (citing *Searle Bros. v. Searle*, 588 P.2d 689, 690-91 (Utah 1978)).

²⁹ §10-9-708(3), U.C.A. (1999) (petition is barred unless filed within 30 days after the Board of Adjustment decision.)

³⁰ *See Career Service Review Board v. Dept. of Corrections*, 942 P.2d 933, 1997 UT 16073 at ¶28 (Utah 1997). "[T]he principles of res judicata apply to enforce repose when an administrative agency has acted in a judicial capacity in an adversary proceeding to resolve a controversy over legal rights and to apply a remedy," *Salt Lake Citizens v. Mountain States*, 846 P.2d 1245, 1251, n.4 (Utah 1992)

between the parties.³¹ The summary judgment became a final order when not appealed within 30 days³²

C. Fully Litigated. Owners were represented by legal counsel, and had an opportunity to raise all issues they wished in the first action.

D. Same Parties are Precluded. John and June Collins were the plaintiffs in all the cases at issue.

All the requirements of issue preclusion are therefore met for each of the three subject properties. A judgment which is not further appealed or remanded becomes a final judgment on the merits.³³ Once the time for appeal ran, the final judgment of the trial court was res judicata.³⁴

³¹ See *Salt Lake City Corp. v. Layton*, 600 P.2d 538 (Utah 1979)

³² Rule 4(a), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure (notice of appeal from trial court judgment must be filed with the clerk of the trial court within 30 days) after entry of the judgment).

³³ See *Sevy v. Security Title Co. of Southern Utah*, 902 P.2d 629, 1995 Utah LEXIS 50 (Utah 1995) ". . . [T]he court of appeals' decision . . . was a final judgment on the merits. The judgment was not further appealed or remanded, nor was it determined on the basis of an unrelated procedural issue." 1995 Utah LEXIS 50 at 8. (Emphasis supplied.) *Casa Grande Trust Company v. Superior Court for the County of Pinal*, 444 P.2d 521, 8 Ariz. App. 163, 1968 Ariz. App. LEXIS 490 (Appealable trial court judgment is res judicata and conclusive on the parties if no appeal is taken.)

³⁴ C. Wright, Miller, and Cooper, *Federal Practice and Procedure: Jurisdiction* §4433, at 305, citing numerous U.S. Supreme Court and U.S. Court of Appeals cases. "Concededly the judgment in the first suit would have been binding in the subsequent one if an appeal, though available, had not been taken or perfected." *U.S. v. Munsingwear, Inc.*, 71 S. Ct., 104, 106, 340 U.S. 36, 39, 95 L.Ed. 36, 1950 U.S. LEXIS 1410, at 6. A litigant's choice not to continue to assert his rights after an intermediate court has ruled against him concludes the litigation as effectively as if he had proceeded all the way through the highest court available to him. *Angel v. Bullington*, 330 U.S. 183, 67 S.Ct 657, 91 L.Ed. 832 (1947). See *State v. Clark*, 913 P.2d 360 (Utah App. 1996) (Upon failure of criminal defendant to perfect an appeal by filing a brief, or by petition for rehearing, the dismissal of the appeal became an adjudication on the merits which thereafter barred the defendant

E. An Intervening Decision by a Higher Court Does Not Revive a Claim Once Finally Decided Where a Party Made No Effort to Appeal the Earlier Decision

The res judicata consequences of a final unappealed judgment on the merits are not altered by the fact that the judgment may have been wrong or rested on a legal principle subsequently overruled in another case.³⁵ The established rule is that preclusion cannot be defeated by electing to forgo an available opportunity to appeal.³⁶ A judgment in a prior suit will be binding in subsequent actions if an available appeal is not taken or perfected.³⁷ In *Ackerman v. U.S.*³⁸, in a case where the petitioner had not appealed a denaturalization judgment against him in his own case because he felt it was not worth the expense, and then later moved to vacate the judgment after the denaturalization judgment of his brother-in-

under the doctrine of res judicata from subsequently challenging his sentence on the same legal basis.) See also *Career Service Review Board v. Utah*, 942 P.2d 933, (Utah 1997) (Dept. of Corrections failed to appeal an order of the Utah Career Service Review Board, by which it became final, thus precluding the district court from considering the issues decided by the Board in its order.)

³⁵ *Federated Dept. Stores v. Moitie*, 452 U.S. 394, 101 S.Ct. 2424, 69 L.Ed.2d 103 (1981); see also *Piacitelli v. Southern Utah State College* (final order is res judicata and binding on parties where not appealed and not reversed on appeal, citing *Federated Dept. Stores*); *Office of Recovery Services v. V.G.P.*, 845 P.2d 946 (Ut. App. 1992)(nonappealed trial court judgment barred by claim preclusion in paternity case); *Copperstate Thrift & Loan v. Bruno*, 735 P.2d 387 (Ut. App. 1987)(issue preclusion prevents relitigation of final order bankruptcy court even though that decision may have been incorrect).

³⁶ C. Wright, Miller and Cooper, *Federal Practice and Procedure: Jurisdiction* §4433. "Many cases establish the rule that once the time for appeal has run, a final judgment of a trial court or an intermediate appellate court is res judicata without regard to the fact that appeal might have been taken to a higher court." *Id.*

³⁷ *U.S. v. Munsingwear, Inc.*, 340 U.S. 36, 39, 71 S.Ct. 104, 106, 95 L.Ed. 36 (1950); see also *Angel v. Bullington*, 330 U.S. 183, 189, 67 S.Ct. 657, 661, 91 L.Ed.832 (1947)(failure to continue to assert one's rights after an intermediate appellate court has ruled against a party concludes the litigation as effectively as if he had proceeded with his appeal through the highest court available)

³⁸ 34 U.S. 193, 71 S.Ct. 209, 95 L.Ed.207 (1950)

law was reversed in an identical case, the Supreme Court held that further appeal was barred by res judicata where he had not pursued his own appeal.³⁹

The Property Owners made a choice not to appeal, and they cannot be relieved of such a choice because hindsight seems to indicate to him that his decision not to appeal was probably wrong. There must be an end to litigation someday, and a court will not relieve a party from a free calculated, deliberate choice to forego appeal.⁴⁰

A change in the judicial view of applicable law after final judgment is not a sufficient basis for vacating a judgment entered before the change in law by a higher court, where parties neglected to perfect their appeal.⁴¹

Owners' citations of authority in their brief on the issue of whether intervening changes in law act as an exception to issue preclusion where a prior judgment exists are either inapplicable, because they involve change in fact, or intervening legislative changes of law, or a change in an already existing judicial decision. The instant case involved none of these. There were no intervening changes of fact, nor a change in legislation which would have allowed the use in question. Nor was there was a change in judicial decision, because no appellate court had yet ruled on the issue of whether Sandy City's ordinances

³⁹ See also *Ellis v. Whittaker*, 10 Kan.App.2d 676, 709 P.2d 991 (1985) (Motion to set aside judgment because of subsequent change in court decisions properly denied where party chose not to appeal in first case), *Cruickshank & Co. v. Dutuchess Shipping Co., Ltd.*, 805 F.2d 465 (1986)

⁴⁰ *Id.* 34 U.S. at 198, 71 S. Ct. at 211, *Lubben v. Selective Service System Local Bd. No. 27*, 453 F.2d 645, 651, 652 (1st Cir. 1972)

⁴¹ *Title v. U.S.*, 263 F.2d 28, 30, 31 (9th Cir. 1959)

prohibited short-term rentals until *Brown*. This was a matter of first impression when the Owners took it to the district court.

Owners cite dicta from *State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co. v. Duel*,⁴² for the general rule that res judicata is no defense where between the time of the first judgment and the second there has been an intervening decision or change in law altering the situation. A review of the authorities cited in the case do not support the Owners' position, however.⁴³ *Community Hospital v. Sullivan*⁴⁴, also cited by Owners, involved an intervening legislative change as well as a change in facts, and so is inapplicable to this case on both counts.

The intervening event in *Farrow v. Brown*⁴⁵, was a change in the factual situation underlying the first judgment: the road easement which had been decided in the first action was no longer passable because of a change in the course of creek by which the road ran.

⁴² 1945 S.Ct.178, 324 U.S. 154, 65 S. Ct. 573, 89 L. Ed. 812, reh. den. 324 U.S. 887, 65 S.Ct. 856, 89 L.Ed. 1436

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